

State of Delaware Office of Auditor of Accounts

Request for Proposal

For

## **Delaware College Investment Plan**

**Professional Services** 

August 13, 2013

## **RFP13-CPA-08**

by

State of Delaware Office of Auditor of Accounts Townsend Building, Suite 1 401 Federal Street Dover, Delaware 19901

Deadline to Respond: 3:00 p.m. (EST), September 3, 2013

## Table of Contents

- I. Introduction
- II. Proposal Process
- III. Term of Engagement
- IV. Nature of Services Required
  - A. Engagement Description and Cycle
  - B. Engagement Standards
  - C. Deliverables
  - D. Retention and Access to Engagement Documentation
- V. Description of the Entity
  - A. Engagement Contact and Location
  - B. Background Information
- VI. Time Requirements
  - A. Proposal Calendar
  - B. Preliminary Engagement Planning
  - C. Entrance Conference
  - D. Progress Reporting and Exit Conference
  - E. Reports
    - 1. Draft Reports
    - 2. Final Reports
- VII. Proposal Content
  - A. Technical Proposal
    - 1. Transmittal Letter
    - 2. Table of Contents
    - 3. Mandatory Criteria
    - 4. Technical Criteria
  - B. Cost Proposal

#### VIII. Evaluation Process

- A. Review of Proposals
- B. Evaluation Criteria
  - 1. Technical Qualifications
  - 2. Cost
- C. Reservation of Rights
- D. Confidentiality of Documents

#### IX. Contract Conditions

- A. Term
- B. Compensation
- C. Non-Appropriation
- D. Notice of Termination
- E. Formal Contract and Purchase Order
- F. Indemnification
- G. Compliance
- H. Data Usage Agreement
- I. Confidentiality of Information
- J. Use of Work Product
- K. Insurance
- L. Non-Discrimination
- M. Covenant Against Contingent Fees
- N. Contract Documents
- O. Applicable Law
- P. Scope of Agreement
- X. Additional Services
- XI. Manner of Payment Notice

#### Appendices

- A. Sample Schedule of Professional Fees and Expenses
- B. Non-Collusion Statement Form
- C. Data Usage Agreement
- D. Frequently Asked Questions

#### I. Introduction

In accordance with 29 Del. C. Chapter 69, Subchapter VI, *Professional Services*, the Office of Auditor of Accounts (AOA) is distributing this Request for Proposal (RFP) to, and requesting proposals from, qualified certified public accounting firms to perform an engagement in accordance with Section IV., for each of the calendar years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014.

There is no expressed or implied obligation for AOA to reimburse firms for any costs or expenses incurred in preparing proposals in response to this request. AOA will **not** pay any costs or expenses incurred by any firm associated with any aspect of responding to this RFP, including proposal preparation, printing, delivery, or the negotiation process. Additionally, no indirect reimbursements (e.g., in the form of credits or reductions to any agreed upon compensation) will be made to any responding firm by AOA for any such costs or expenses.

Public notice has been provided in accordance with 29 Del. C. § 6981.

#### II. Proposal Process

All inquiries concerning this RFP must be submitted in writing and must be received by 4:00 p.m. EST on August 20, 2013 via e-mail directly to <u>AOAContracting@state.de.us</u>, and clearly mark the RFP number in the subject line.

**Direct contact with the State of Delaware or AOA employees** other than the abovereferenced contacts **regarding this RFP is expressly prohibited without prior consent**. Firms contacting the State of Delaware or AOA employees risk elimination of their proposal from further consideration.

To be considered, the *technical* proposal and the *cost* proposal **must be submitted in two separate emails with "Technical Proposal" and "Cost Proposal" clearly marked in the subject line** to <u>AOAContracting@state.de.us</u> on or before 3:00 p.m. on September 3, 2013.

AOA reserves the right to retain all proposals submitted and to use any ideas in a proposal regardless of whether that proposal is selected. AOA reserves the right without prejudice to reject any or all proposals.

By submitting a bid, each proposer must be deemed to acknowledge that it has carefully read all sections of this RFP, including all forms, schedules and exhibits hereto, and has fully informed itself as to all existing conditions and limitations.

Once the selection of a firm is completed, all proposers will be notified and the executed contract will be completed reasonably thereafter.

#### III. Term of Engagement

The contract period is for two years, with the option to renew the contract at AOA's request for two additional years subject to the satisfactory negotiation of terms (including a cost acceptable to both AOA and the selected firm) and the annual availability of an appropriation by the Legislature.

#### IV. Nature of Services Required

A. Engagement Description and Cycle

The proposer shall conduct a financial statement audit of the State of Delaware (the State) College Investment Plan (the Plan). The Plan's fiscal year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31.

B. Engagement Standards

To meet the requirements of this RFP, the engagement must be performed in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and U.S. Government Accountability Office, *Government Auditing Standards*.

C. Deliverables

A detailed engagement plan and programs **must** be submitted to the AOA Liaison for review and approval before work can start.

The firm agrees it will not prepare the financial statements or note disclosures. The firm should notify AOA immediately of any request to perform such services.

The firm will need to give consideration to the Plan's relationship to the State and applicable accounting standards.

Following the completion of the engagement, the firm must issue a written report in accordance with standards discussed above. AOA will distribute copies of the reports to the appropriate officials.

<u>Irregularities and illegal acts</u>: All situations or transactions that come to the firm's attention that could be indicative of fraud, abuse, illegal acts, material errors, defalcations, or other irregularities must be **promptly reported to AOA**. AOA will determine the appropriate course of action.

D. Retention and Access to Engagement Documentation

#### RFP13-CPA-08 Page 5 of 28

All engagement documentation and reports must be retained, at the firm's expense, for a minimum of three years, unless the firm is notified in writing by AOA of the need to extend the retention period. The firm is required to make engagement documentation available, upon request, to the AOA or its designees.

In addition, the firm must respond to the reasonable inquiries of successor firms and allow the firms to review engagement documentation relating to matters of continuing engagement significance.

#### V. Description of the Entity

A. Engagement Contact and Location

The engagement entity's principal engagement contact will be Karen Field Rogers, Associate Secretary of Financial Reform and Resource Management, or a designated representative, who will coordinate the assistance to the firm. Fidelity Management & Research Company manages the Plan and provides the bulk of the information to the firm. As a result, the location of the audit is at the firm's discretion.

B. Background Information

The Delaware College Investment Plan was established pursuant to §529 of Title 26 of the United States Code, and is managed by the Delaware College Investment Board (the Board). The State Pension Office and Delaware Higher Education Office provide assistance to the Board in the administration of the Plan as directed by the Board chairperson.

The Board is composed of five members: (1) A Board Chairperson, selected by the Governor; (2) The Secretary of Finance or the Secretary's designee; (3) A member of the public appointed by the Delaware Higher Education Office, subject to the approval of the Secretary of Education; and (4) Two public members, who by reason of their education and experience are qualified to serve, appointed by the Governor.

The Plan offers a choice of portfolios tailored to a child's age or the ability to customize portfolio selections based on an asset allocation strategy. 529 college savings plans are flexible, tax-advantaged accounts designed to help parents, grandparents, and others pay for higher education expenses. Withdrawals can be used for qualified expenses at any accredited college nationwide and many international institutions. As of December 31, 2012, the Plan contained 36 investment portfolios.

More information on the Plan can be found on the following websites.

- <u>http://www.doe.k12.de.us/infosuites/students\_family/dheo/how\_to\_apply/dci\_p.shtml</u>
- http://delcode.delaware.gov/title14/c034/sc12/index.shtml

## VI. Time Requirements

- A. Proposal Calendar
  - Request For Proposal issued
  - Deadline for proposal questions
- August 13, 2013 August 20, 2013 September 3, 2013

B. Preliminary Engagement Planning

• Due date for proposals

A detailed engagement plan and program(s) must be submitted to the AOA Liaison no later than November 15, 2013. The AOA Liaison will review and provide comments, if necessary, within 10 business days.

The engagement records are expected to be available for review by February 1 each year.

C. Entrance Conference

An entrance conference must be held with the engagement entity's key personnel each year. At the entrance conference, the firm must provide the engagement entity with a time schedule for the engagement and a listing of all information needed.

The firm must make the AOA Liaison aware of the date and location of the entrance conference in case the AOA Liaison wishes to attend.

D. Progress Reporting and Exit Conference

The firm must keep the engagement entity and AOA updated on the progress of the engagement. After the engagement has been completed, an exit conference must be held with the engagement entity's key personnel and the AOA Liaison, unless the AOA Liaison declines.

- E. Reports
  - 1. Draft Reports Prior to obtaining management's response, but after going through a supervisory and technical review, the draft report will be submitted via email to the AOA Liaison on or before the following dates. The AOA Liaison requires a minimum of 10 business days for review and to return any

comments to the firm. In addition to requirements under the professional standards, reports **must** be formatted in accordance with AOA's Style Guide.

•	Calendar Year 2013	March 7, 2014
•	Calendar Year 2014	March 6, 2015

The firm must provide an electronic version of the draft report to the engagement entity's principal contact or designee for management response and approval. The engagement entity's principal contact or designee must review the draft report as expeditiously as possible. During management review, the firm must be available to discuss the engagement report and resolve any issues. After all issues are resolved, an electronic version of the draft report must be forwarded to the AOA Liaison for final review by the following dates.

•	Calendar Year 2013	March 28, 2014
•	Calendar Year 2014	March 27, 2015

2. Final Reports – Once the AOA Liaison approves the report for issuance, the final report must be emailed in an unsecured PDF format to the AOA Liaison by the following dates.

•	Calendar Year 2013	April 11, 2014
•	Calendar Year 2014	April 10, 2015

Report preparation and editing is the responsibility of the firm.

#### VII. Proposal Content

A. Technical Proposal

There must be **no dollars or total costs** included in the Technical Proposal. Inclusion of such information will result in disqualification of the proposal. The Technical Proposal **must** address all the points outlined in the RFP in the following format:

1. Transmittal Letter - The signed transmittal letter must briefly discuss the following: RFP subject, reference number, the proposer's understanding of the work to be done, the commitment to perform the work within the time period, a statement why the firm believes it is best qualified to perform the engagement, and a statement that the proposal is a firm and irrevocable offer for one month after the due date of proposal. The transmittal letter must also clearly state and justify any exception to the requirements of the RFP that the applicant may have taken in presenting the proposal.

- 2. Table of Contents A table of contents must clearly identify each section by page number.
- 3. Mandatory Criteria No proposal will move forward for full technical review and scoring unless the mandatory items are fully addressed as requested in this section.
  - a. Independence

The firm **must** provide an affirmative statement that it is independent of the engagement entity and AOA as defined by engagement standards in the U.S. Government Accountability Office's *Government Auditing Standards*.

The firm **must** also list and describe the firm's professional relationships involving the engagement entity for the past five years, together with a statement explaining why each relationship does not constitute a conflict of interest relative to performing the proposed engagement. If the firm has had no relationships within the last five years, the proposal **must** include a declarative statement.

In addition, the firm **must** give AOA immediate written notice and obtain approval from AOA of any professional relationships with the State of Delaware and its related entities <u>before</u> they are entered into during the contract period.

- b. <u>License to Practice in Delaware & Delaware Business License</u> The applicant **must** provide: (1) a copy of valid Delaware CPA licenses, a copy of valid CPA licenses from a jurisdiction with CPA licensure requirements that are substantially equivalent to those of the Uniform Accountability Act, or authorization to practice in the State of Delaware from the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy (NASBA) for the engagement partner, manager, and supervisor in-charge, (2) a copy of a valid Delaware firm permit to practice, and (3) a copy of a current Delaware State business license for the firm.
- c. <u>Firm Qualifications and Experience</u> The proposer **must** state the size of the firm, the size of the firm's governmental staff, the location of the office from which the work on this engagement is to be performed, the number and nature of the professional staff to be employed in this engagement on a full-time basis, and the number and nature of the staff to be employed on a part-time basis.

If the proposer is a joint venture or consortium, the qualifications of each firm comprising the joint venture or consortium **must** be separately

identified and the firm that is to serve as the principal auditor must be noted, if applicable.

d. <u>Peer Review</u>

The proposer **must** submit a copy of the most current peer review and a statement whether the quality control review included a government engagement. A proposer must be in compliance with generally accepted government auditing standards (GAGAS) peer review requirements.

#### e. <u>Suspension and Debarment</u>

The firm **must** certify that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded by any government agency or Board. In addition, the firm must certify that it has not been the subject of any disciplinary action<sup>1</sup> or inquiry in any jurisdiction or terminated from a public (Federal, State or local) contract for cause or default during the past three years

Any firm ineligible to conduct business in the State of Delaware for any reason is ineligible to respond to the RFP.

f. Insurance

The firm, as an independent contractor to the State, **must** provide a copy of insurance for claims under the Worker's Compensation Act and from any other claims for damages for personal injury, including death, which may arise from operations under this Contract. The firm's copy of insurance **must** demonstrate that it currently carries insurance of minimum limits as follows:

Commercial General Liability	\$1 million per claim/ \$3 million aggregate
Professional Liability	\$1 million per claim/ \$3 million aggregate

g. <u>Partner, Supervisor, and Staff Qualifications and Experience</u> The firm **must** identify the engagement team: engagement partners, managers, supervisors, staff auditors, and specialists. For each person, the firm must indicate whether the person is registered or licensed to practice as a Certified Public Accountant in the State of Delaware; provide

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Disciplinary action includes conviction or a civil judgment rendered for (a) commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction, (b) violation of Federal or State antitrust statutes, or (c) commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property.

information on the person's government auditing experience, including information on relevant continuing professional education for the past three years and membership in professional organizations relevant to the performance of this engagement; and discuss whether or not that person, within the past three years, has been the subject of any disciplinary action or inquiry in any jurisdiction.

The firm must identify the extent to which staff to be assigned to the engagement reflect the State of Delaware's commitment to Affirmative Action.

Engagement partners, managers, supervisors, and staff auditors may be changed if those personnel leave the firm, are promoted, are assigned to another office, or for other reasons with the express prior written permission of AOA. However, in either case, AOA retains the right to approve or reject replacements and the replacements must have substantially the same or better qualifications or experience.

Consultants and firm specialists mentioned in response to this RFP can only be changed with the express prior written permission of AOA, which retains the right to approve or reject replacements.

- h. <u>Statement on Subcontracting & Third Party Service Providers</u> The firm must include a statement that the work will not be subcontracted and that none of the work products will be subjected to a third party service provider.
- i. <u>Non-Collusion Statement</u> The form, located at Appendix B, must be completed and signed by an authorized representative of the firm.
- 4. Technical Criteria
  - a. <u>Prior Engagements with AOA</u>

All engagements performed for AOA within the last three years must be listed in the proposal. These engagements must be ranked on the basis of total staff hours and by type of engagement (i.e., audit, management advisory services, other). The scope of work, date, engagement partners, total hours, the location of the firm's office from which the engagement was performed, and the name and telephone number of the principal client contact must also be detailed.

#### b. <u>Similar Engagements with Other Government Entities</u>

For the firm's office that will be assigned responsibility for the engagement, the firm must list the most significant engagements (maximum of 5) performed in the last three years that are similar to the engagement described in this RFP. These engagements must be ranked on the basis of total staff hours and must indicate the scope of work, date, engagement partners, total hours, and the name and telephone number of the principal client contact.

#### c. <u>Specific Engagement Approach</u>

The proposal must set forth a work plan including, but not limited to, the following as applicable:

- (1) Proposed segmentation, phases, and/or milestones of the engagement.
- (2) Level of staff and number of hours assigned to each area proposed in (1) without dollars.
- (3) Sample methodology and the extent to which sampling is to be or planned to be used.
- (4) Processes for evaluating and testing internal controls including plans for adequate coverage of information technology infrastructure and data integrity.
- (5) Extent of software to be used in the engagement.
- (6) Processes to ensure the quality of the engagement.
- (7) Approach to manage the engagement process and ensure appropriate time and staff commitments to meet AOA deadlines.
- (8) Firms that were members of the AICPA's Government Audit Quality Center (GAQC) during peer review must disclose such information. If a firm has joined since the last peer review, they must disclose the membership date.
- B. Cost Proposal

The cost proposal will include a transmittal letter with the name of the firm, a written certification that (1) the firm agrees to bill AOA only for actual work performed and out-of-pocket expense incurred during its performance of the engagement, (2) billings will be submitted in the format outlined in Section IX. B. of this RFP, and (3) the person signing the proposal is entitled to represent the firm, empowered to submit the bid, and authorized to sign a contract with AOA.

The cost proposal must contain all detailed cost information relative to performing the engagement as described in this RFP **for each fiscal year presented in the schedule as outlined in Appendix A**. Appendix A is an example of a detailed cost schedule, and it should be amended as needed according to the deliverables of the RFP and specific steps within each deliverable. Out-of-pocket expenses for firm

personnel (e.g., travel, lodging, and subsistence) will be reimbursed at the prevailing rates used by the State of Delaware for its employees. A statement **must** be included in the cost proposal stating that the firm will accept reimbursement for travel, lodging, and subsistence at the prevailing rate used by the State of Delaware for its employees.

If a firm determines additional items necessary for the completion of this engagement, the firm may include these in their proposals as separate line items. Any additional items will be considered individually and removed from the total cost when comparing cost proposals.

#### VIII. Evaluation Process

During the evaluation process, AOA reserves the right to request additional information or clarification from proposers, or to allow corrections of errors or omissions. Additionally, AOA may request the firm or firms to make oral presentations as part of the evaluation process. Not all firms may be asked to make such oral presentations. All costs associated with participation in oral presentations conducted for the State of Delaware are the firm's responsibility.

The Evaluation Committee may negotiate with one or more of the qualified firms during the same period and may, at its sole discretion, terminate negotiations with any and all firms at any time.

#### A. Review of Proposals

Proposals that do not meet or comply with the instructions of this RFP may be considered non-conforming, deemed non-responsive, and be subject to disqualification at the sole discretion of the Evaluation Committee.

The Evaluation Committee will use a point formula during the review process to score technical proposals. All assignments of points must be at the sole discretion of the Evaluation Committee. Each member of the Technical Evaluation Committee will first score each technical proposal by each of the criteria described in Section VII. The Technical Evaluation Committee will then convene to review and discuss these evaluations and to combine the individual scores to arrive at an average technical score for each firm. At any point a firm may be eliminated from further consideration for unacceptably low technical scores.

#### B. Evaluation Criteria

Only firms meeting the mandatory criteria and all the must requirements of the RFP will have their proposals evaluated and scored for both technical qualifications and cost.

1. Technical Qualifications: (Maximum Points: 90)

Technical criteria will include, but are not limited to, staffing qualification, prior experience, AOA's prior experiences with the firm, use of specialist, engagement approach and innovation, and realistic time estimates.

2. Cost: (Maximum Points: 10)

Cost **will not** be the primary factor in the selection of any firm.

C. Reservation of Rights

The Evaluation Committee reserves the right to:

- Select for contract or for negotiations a proposal other than that with the lowest costs.
- Reject any and all proposals or portions of the proposals received in response to this RFP, or to make no award or issue a new RFP.
- Waive or modify any information, irregularity, or inconsistency in proposals received.
- Request modification to proposal from any or all contractors during the review and negotiation.
- Negotiate any aspect of the proposal with any firm and negotiate with more than one firm at the same time.

The Evaluation Committee reserves the right to reject any proposal as represented throughout this document and from a firm who:

- Has been convicted for commission of a criminal offense as an incident to obtaining or attempting to obtain a public or private contract or subcontract, or in the performance of the contract or subcontract;
- Has been convicted under State or federal statutes of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, receiving stolen property, or other offenses indicating lack of business integrity or business honesty that currently and seriously affects responsibility as a State contractor;
- Has been convicted or has had a civil judgment entered for a violation under State or federal antitrust statutes;
- Has violated contract provisions such as:
  - Knowing failure without good cause to perform in accordance with the specifications or within the time limit provided in the contract;
  - Failure to perform or unsatisfactory performance in accordance with terms of one or more contracts;
  - Has violated ethical standards set out in law or regulation;

RFP13-CPA-08 Page 14 of 28

- Any other cause listed in regulations of the State of Delaware determined to be serious and compelling as to affect responsibility as a State contractor, including debarment by another government entity for cause listed in the regulations.
- D. Confidentiality of Documents

All documents submitted as part of the firm's proposal will be deemed confidential during the evaluation process. Proposals will not be available for review by anyone other than AOA and the Evaluation Committee or its designated agents. There must be no disclosure of any firm's information to a competing firm prior to award of the contract.

The State of Delaware is a public agency as defined by State law, and as such, it is subject to the Delaware Freedom of Information Act, 29 Del. C., c. 100. Under the law, all the State of Delaware's records are public records, unless otherwise declared by law to be confidential, and are subject to inspection and reproduction by any person. Vendors are advised that once a proposal is received by the State of Delaware and a decision on contract award is made, its contents will become public record and nothing contained in the proposal will be deemed to be confidential except proprietary information.

Firms must not include any information in their proposal that is proprietary in nature or that they would not want to be released to the public. Proposals must contain sufficient information to be evaluated and a contract written without reference to any proprietary information. If a firm feels that it cannot submit its proposal without including proprietary information, it must adhere to the following procedure or the firm's proposal may be deemed unresponsive and will not be recommended for selection. The firm must submit such information in a separate email labeled "Proprietary Proposal Information" with the RFP number. The email must contain a letter from the firm's legal counsel describing the documents in the email, representing in good faith that the information in each document is not "public record" as defined by 29 Del. C. § 10002(d), and briefly stating the reasons that each document meets the said definitions.

#### IX. Contract Conditions

The firm awarded the contract will be required to enter into a written agreement with AOA. AOA reserves the right to incorporate standard State of Delaware contractual provisions into any contract negotiated as a result of a proposal submitted in response to an RFP. Any proposed modifications to the terms and conditions of the standard contract are subject to review and approval by AOA. The firm must be referred to as "Contractor" in the agreement.

The selected firm will be expected to enter negotiations with AOA, which will result in a formal agreement between the parties. Procurement will be in accordance with the subsequent contracted agreement. This RFP and the selected firm's response to this RFP will be incorporated as part of any formal agreement.

If the firm to whom the contract is awarded fails to enter in the agreement as herein provided, the award will be annulled and an award may be made to another firm. Such firm must fulfill every stipulation embraced therein as if they were the party to whom the first award was made.

The selected firm under this RFP must be subject to contractual provisions, in a form substantially similar to the following, as well as those agreed to by the parties and not specifically described herein.

A. <u>Term</u>

The term of the contract between the successful firm and AOA must be determined by AOA. The agreement may be terminated by AOA at any time by giving written notice to the Contractor of such termination. Upon such termination, the Contractor will be paid for the hours of work actually completed.

In the event the successful firm materially breaches any obligation under this Agreement, the Contractor must not be relieved of any liability to the State of Delaware for damages suffered by it by virtue of any such breach. AOA may withhold any payments to Contractor for the purpose of set off for such damages.

B. Compensation

AOA agrees to pay Contractor compensation calculated solely on the amount of engagement work performed by firm's staff, based on actual hours billed and hourly rates as set forth in Appendix A herein, as well as approved out-of-pocket expenses.

Contractor agrees to bill AOA only for actual work performed and out-of-pocket expenses incurred during its performance of the engagement. Contractor **must** submit all invoices in electronic format for AOA approval. Any additional work outside the contract or for additional fees related to the contract is not permitted without the AOA Liaison's knowledge and approval. Invoices must include the name of the person who performed the work, the nature of work performed, the date(s) work was performed, the number of hours worked, and the corresponding hourly rate, in addition to the amounts, descriptions, and dates of all out-of-pocket expenses for which reimbursement is requested. If approved, AOA will forward the invoice to the engagement entity for payment or pay the invoice itself, depending on the type of engagement.

If the deliverables are not submitted on the due dates as enumerated in the Request for Proposal due to the fault of the Contractor or an advanced written request for

extension has not been received and approved by AOA in writing per the terms of this contract, the Contractor is thus in default and may be subject to a late penalty. The penalty shall amount to zero point one percent (0.1%) of the total contract price for each day following the deliverable date specified in the Contract up to ten percent (10%) of the total price. This provision does not preclude damages for breach of contract for substandard work or damages as enumerated herein.

#### C. Non-Appropriation

In the event the General Assembly fails to appropriate the specific funds necessary to enter into or continue the contractual agreement, in whole or in part, the agreement must be terminated, as to any obligation of the State of Delaware requiring the expenditure of money for which no specific appropriation is available at the end of the last fiscal year for which no appropriation is available or upon the exhaustion of funds.

#### D. Notice of Termination

Any notice to AOA required under this Agreement must be in writing and sent by regular mail and registered mail to:

Attention: Kathleen A. Davies Chief Administrative Auditor Townsend Building, Suite 1 401 Federal Street Dover, DE 19901

#### E. Formal Contract and Purchase Order

The successful firm must promptly execute an agreement incorporating the terms of this RFP within twenty business days after the award of the contract. When purchase orders are applicable, no bidder is to begin any service prior to receipt of a State of Delaware purchase order signed by two authorized representatives of the agency requesting service, properly processed through the State of Delaware Division of Accounting and the engagement entity, where applicable. The purchase order must serve as the authorization to proceed in accordance with the bid specifications and the special instructions, once it is received by the successful firm.

F. Indemnification

By submitting a proposal, the proposing firm agrees that in the event it is awarded a contract, the Contractor must defend, indemnify and save harmless the State from and against all liability, damages, costs or expenses, causes of actions, suites, judgments, losses, and claims including reasonable attorney's fees, brought against the State arising out of or resulting from the performance of the auditing services by Contractor under the Agreement resulting from this RFP to the extent caused by Contractor's negligence or arising from any breach or default Contractor under such

RFP13-CPA-08 Page 17 of 28

Agreement. The foregoing obligation of Contractor to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the State must not extend or apply to any claim alleging that the State's financial statements are inaccurate or incomplete or were not prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Further, in no event will Contractor indemnify and hold harmless the State from any claims or liabilities resulting from the acts of the State.

G. Compliance

In performance of the contract the firm is required to comply with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations of the jurisdiction in which the Agreement is performed, as well as all applicable professional conduct rules and guidelines. Contractor will also comply with any policies, guidelines and requirements of the jurisdiction in which the Agreement is performed, provided that such policies, guidelines, and requirements are identified to the Contractor by the jurisdiction and the Contractor states, in writing, that it can comply. The cost of permits and other relevant costs required in the performance of the contract must be borne by the successful firm. The firm must be properly licensed and authorized to transact business in the State of Delaware as provided in 30 Del. C. §2502 and other applicable statutes and regulations.

AOA reserves the right to audit conformance to the contract terms and may perform this audit with a third party at its discretion. Contractor shall be under no obligation to permit an audit to the extent that such audit would violate applicable professional standards or undermine the integrity of the audit.

H. Data<sup>2</sup> Usage Agreement

At no point will any information obtained for the purposes of this engagement be used in any transaction that does not include AOA. Additional precautions must be taken if a Contractor uses cloud computing<sup>3</sup> to perform the services of this Contract. If awarded the Contract, the Contractor must agree to the terms specified in Appendices C and D prior to the commencement of the engagement. The Contractor and its employees are forbidden from signing any agreements related to this engagement (e.g. non-disclosure agreements, data usage agreements, etc.) that are not presented directly by AOA.

I. Confidentiality of Information

Any reports, information, data, etc. given to, prepared, or assembled by the Contractor under this Contract shall not be released or made available to any

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the purposes of the Contract (including the Data Usage Agreement and Biggs Data Center Non-Disclosure Agreement, if applicable), "data" does not include audit documentation required by the auditing standards.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) defines cloud computing as a "model for enabling ubiquitous, convenient, on-demand network access to a shared pool of configurable computing resources (e.g. networks, servers, storage, applications, and services) that can be rapidly provisioned and released with minimal management effort..."

individual or organization by the Contractor without the prior written approval of AOA. All information must be properly secured to prevent unauthorized access in accordance with Internal Revenue Service (IRS) Publication 1075, Tax Information Security Guidelines for Federal, State, and Local Agencies, the Privacy Act of 1974 (as amended by the Computer Matching and Privacy Protection Act of 1988), the Federal Information Security management Act of 2002, the Social Security Administration's "Information System Security Guidelines for Federal, State, and Local Agencies Receiving Electronic Information from the Social Security Administration," and related National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) guidelines. Notwithstanding the forgoing, the Contractor is authorized to disclose any information related to this Contract when required to by law, legal process, or applicable professional standards.

Audit working papers, summaries, and similar records must be retained electronically for at least three years after the completion of the engagement in accordance with the Delaware Public Archives Local Government General Records Retention Schedule.

At the end of the engagement all non-working papers (documents provided by the State of Delaware to Contractor) must be destroyed in all forms (e.g. disk, CD, DVD, paper) except those items required for audit documentation purposes.

#### J. Use of Work Product

All reports developed under this Contract are the sole and exclusive property of the State, and the State has the exclusive right to their use.

#### K. Insurance

The firm recognizes that it is operating as an independent contractor, and not an employee of the State of Delaware, and that it is liable for any and all losses, penalties, damages, expenses, attorney's fees, judgments, and/or settlements incurred by reason of injury to or death of any and all persons, or injury to any and all property, of any nature, arising out of the contractor's negligent performance under this contract, and particularly without limiting the forgoing, caused by, resulting from, or arising out of any act of omission on the part of the contractor in their negligent performance under this contract.

The firm **must** certify that it must maintain such insurance as will protect against claims under Worker's Compensation Act and from any other claims for damages for personal injury, including death, which may arise from operations under the Agreement. The firm is an independent contractor and is not an employee of the State of Delaware.

The firm **must**, at its expense, carry insurance of minimum limits as follows:

Commercial General Liability	\$1 million per claim/ \$3 million aggregate
Professional Liability	\$1 million per claim/ \$3 million aggregate

The firm **must** provide a certificate of insurance as proof that the firm has the required insurance.

#### L. Non-Discrimination

In performing the services subject to this RFP, the firm agrees that it will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, age, marital status, religion, color, sex, genetic information, national origin, or disability. The successful firm must comply with all federal and state laws, regulations and policies pertaining to the prevention of discriminatory employment practice. Failure to perform under this provision constitutes a material breach of contract.

#### M. Covenant Against Contingent Fees

The successful firm warrants that no person or selling agency has been employed or retained to solicit or secure this contract upon an agreement of understanding for a commission or percentage, brokerage or contingent fee excepting bona-fide employees, bona-fide established commercial or selling agencies maintained by the bidder for the purpose of securing business. For breach or violation of this warranty, AOA must have the right to annul the contract without liability or at its discretion to deduct from the contract cost or otherwise recover the full amount of such commission, percentage, brokerage, or contingent fee.

#### N. Contract Documents

The RFP, the Purchase Order and the executed Agreement between AOA and the successful firm must constitute the Contract between AOA and the firm. In the event there is any discrepancy between any of these contract documents, the following order of documents governs so that the former prevails over the latter: Agreement, Purchase Order, and RFP. No other documents must be considered. These documents contain the entire agreement between AOA and the firm. The firm agrees to be bound by the terms of this RFP pending final execution of the Agreement by the parties.

#### O. Applicable Law

The laws of the State of Delaware must apply, except where Federal law has precedence. The successful firm consents to exclusive jurisdiction in the State of Delaware and agrees that any litigation relating to this Agreement must be filed and litigated in a court in the State of Delaware.

#### P. Scope of Agreement

If the scope of any provision of this Agreement is too broad in any respect whatsoever to permit enforcement to its full extent, then such provision must be enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law, and the parties hereto consent and agree that such scope may be judicially modified accordingly and that the whole of such provisions of the Agreement must not thereby fail, but the scope of such provisions must be curtailed only to the extent necessary to conform to the law.

## X. Additional Services

If, during the course of the engagement, the firm suspects that there will be significant delays in the timing of the work due to the actions of the engagement entity, such as not providing requested items in a timely manner or not adhering to the agreed-upon time schedule discussed at the entrance conference, the firm must notify AOA immediately. AOA and the firm will discuss the issues and develop a solution for completing the engagement.

If it must become necessary for AOA to request the firm to render any additional services to either supplement the services requested in this RFP or to perform additional work as a result of the specific recommendations included in any report issued on this engagement, then such additional work must be performed only if set forth in an addendum to the Agreement between AOA and the firm. Any such additional work agreed to between AOA and the firm must be performed at the same rates set forth in the schedule of fees and expenses included in the cost proposal. Further, if these delays cause the firm to perform additional work, the AOA liaison must approve any additional hours **before** they are incurred.

#### XI. Manner of Payment Notice

Progress payments may be made no more frequently than 30, 60, 90, and 100 percent of completion based on the hours of work completed during the course of the engagement and out-of-pocket expenses incurred in accordance with the firm's cost proposal and not less than a calendar month.

The invoice must include the following: (1) name of engagement entity/engagement; (2) amount and if it is a progress or final invoice; and (3) a breakdown of staff and hours for each. Ten percent of the contract amount will be retained until the Exit Conference has been held and the final reports have been reviewed and accepted by AOA.

# Appendix A

					onal Fees ar	-				
					partment XY					
			F	iscal Years	20X1 - 20X	X2				
	Par	tner	Man	ager	Superviso	or/Sonior	St	aff	Subto	otals
Hourly Rate:	\$1			50		25	\$8			
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,						-1H	$\bigcirc$	-		
Engagement					510	)))()				
Segment:	Hours	Cost	Hours	Cost	Hours	Cast	Hours	Cost	Hours	Cost
Planning	5	900	10	1,500	30	3,750	15	1,275	60	7,425
Fieldwork	5	900	→ 15	2,230	15	9,375	150	12,750	245	25,275
Reporting	2	360	(~ 4(	52 600	15	1,875	7	595	28	3,430
Drafting & Finalizing			$\square$	10,90						
Findings under			$\sum$	$\bigcirc$						
GAGAS	2	360		1,200	10	1,250	5	425	25	3,235
[OTHER]	-	-	- V	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	14	2,520	37	5,550	130	16,250	177	15,045	358	39,365
							Ou	Out-of-pocket Expenses:		
									Mileage	100
									Lodging	150
									Total Cost	39,615

## Appendix B

## Non-Collusion Statement

This is to certify that the undersigned Vendor has not, directly nor indirectly, entered into any agreement, participated in any collusion, or otherwise taken any action in restraint of free competitive bidding in connection with this proposal. The undersigned Vendor further certifies that it is not a subcontractor to another vendor who also submitted a proposal as a primary vendor in response to this solicitation.

Signature of the authorized representative **MUST** be of an individual who legally may enter his/her organization into a formal contract with the State of Delaware, Office of Auditor of Accounts.

Company Name: Check One:  $\Box$  Corporation  $\Box$  Partnership  $\Box$  Individual Company Classifications: [This information is used for statistical purposes only.] (circle one) Women Business Enterprise (WBE) Yes No Minority Business Enterprise (MBE) Yes No Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Yes No Authorized Representative and Title: Address: Phone Number: Email address: Signature: Date: SWORN TO AND SUBSCRIBED BEFORE ME this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 20 \_\_\_\_\_ Notary Public:\_\_\_\_\_ Commission Expires: County of \_\_\_\_\_ State of \_\_\_\_\_ City of \_\_\_\_\_ RFP13-CPA-08 Appendix B Page 23 of 28

## Appendix C

## Data Usage Agreement

1	The State of Delaware shall own all right, title and interest in its data that is related to the			
	services provided by this Contract. The Contractor shall not access State of Delaware User			
	accounts, or State of Delaware Data, except (i) in the course of data center operations, (ii)			
	response to service or technical issues, (iii) as required by the express terms of this contract,			
	or (iv) at the State of Delaware's written request.			
2	Protection of personal privacy and sensitive data shall be an integral part of the business			
	activities of the Contractor to ensure that there is no inappropriate or unauthorized use of			
	State of Delaware information at any time. To this end, the Contractor shall safeguard the			
	confidentiality, integrity, and availability of State information and comply with the following			
	conditions:			
	a) Personal identifiable information (PII) <sup>4</sup> obtained by the Contractor shall become and			
	remain property of the State of Delaware.			
	b) At no time shall any data or processes which either belongs to or are intended for the use			
	of State of Delaware or its officers, agents, or employees, be copied, disclosed, or retained			
	by the Contractor or any party related to the Contractor for subsequent use in any			
	transaction that does not include the State of Delaware.			
	c) The Contractor shall not use any information collected in connection with the service			
	issued from this proposal for any purpose other than fulfilling the service.			
	d) The Contractor will properly safeguard PII from loss, theft, or inadvertent disclosure at all			
	times.			
	e) The Contractor ensures that laptops and other electronic devices/media containing PII are			
	encrypted and/or password protected.			
	f) The Contractor shall limit disclosure of the information and details relating to a PII loss			
	only to those who need to know.			
	g) Data shall be encrypted for all State of Delaware non-public data in transit via Secure			
2	FTP, including data that resides on mobile devices.			
3	The Contractor shall not store or transfer State of Delaware data outside of the United States.			
4	This includes backup data and Disaster Recovery locations.			
4	Contractor will account for all copies of the State of Delaware data.			
5	Contractor must inform the Office of Auditor of Accounts of any security breach or detection			
	of any suspicious intrusion that is or has occurred that jeopardizes the State of Delaware data			
	or processes. This notice must be given to the State of Delaware within 24 hours of its			
	discovery. Full disclosure of the assets that might have been jeopardized must be made.			
	Public breach notification is required by <u>6 <i>Del. C.</i> § 12B-101(4)</u> when citizens' personally			
	identifiable information is lost or stolen. All communication shall be coordinated with the			
	State of Delaware. In the event that data from the Social Security Administration (SSA) is			
	breached, the Contractor must follow SSA's procedures when reporting the breach. When the			

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Personally identifiable information is defined in <u>6 *Del. C.* § 12B-101(4)</u>, and includes items such as Social Security Number, Date of Birth, Driver's License number; login credentials, financial data, or federal/state tax information

## Appendix C

	Contractor is liable for the loss, the State of Delaware shall recover all costs of response and			
	recovery from the breach. Without limitation of additional legal bases, pursuant to the <u>State</u>			
	of Delaware Constitution of 1897 at Article VIII, §§ 3 and 4 and 29 Del. C. § 6519(a) the			
	State of Delaware is not legally permitted to agree to any limitations on liability.			
6	The Contractor shall contact the State of Delaware upon receipt of any electronic discovery,			
	litigation holds, discovery searches, and expert testimonies related to, or which in any way			
	might reasonably require access to the data of the State. The Contractor shall not respond to			
	subpoenas, service of process, and other legal requests related to the State of Delaware			
	without first notifying the State unless prohibited by law from providing such notice.			
7	Only assigned Contractor staff / auditors will have access to the State of Delaware Data and			
	assigned Contractor staff / auditors may be required to be cleared through the State's Security			
	Clearance Program prior to the review of State's data.			
8	Data shall be permanently deleted and shall not be recoverable, according to the National			
	Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) approved methods. Certificates of destruction			
	must be provided to the State of Delaware.			
9	ONLY INCLUDE THIS SECTION IF THE FIRM USES A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR			
	CLOUD COMPUTING			
	[If the Contractor uses cloud or offsite hosting as defined in section IX. H. – Data Usage			
	Agreement of the RFP, the following terms and conditions must be met:			
	<ul> <li>The Contractor shall perform an independent audit of their data centers at least</li> </ul>			
	annually and provide a redacted version of the audit report upon request. The			
	Contractor may remove their proprietary information from the redacted version. For			
	example, a Service Organization Control (SOC) 2 audit report would be sufficient.			
	<ul> <li>Advance notice (to be determined at contract time) shall be given to the State of</li> </ul>			
	Delaware of any major upgrades or system changes that the Contractor will be			
	performing. The State of Delaware reserves the right to defer these changes if desired.			
	<ul> <li>The Contractor shall disclose its non-proprietary security processes and technical</li> </ul>			
	limitations to the State of Delaware such that adequate protection and flexibility can			
	be attained between the State of Delaware and the Contractor. For example: virus			
	checking and port sniffing – the State of Delaware and the Contractor shall understand			
	each other's roles and responsibilities.]			

#### Contractor:

# INOT TO BE COMPLETED UNTIL A FIRM HAS BEEN AWARDED THE CONTRACT]Print NameTitleSignatureDate

## Appendix D

## Frequently Asked Questions

- Who prepared the financial statements? It is the agency's responsibility to ensure the financial statements and related notes are prepared for the audit.
- 2. What were the prior year audit fees?
  - Total fees paid for the Calendar Year 2012 audit were \$163,700. The firm is encouraged to evaluate the hours they believe is necessary to complete the engagement in accordance with the current standards, including any updates that may have occurred from the prior year to present. Firms that provide a more detailed proposal and related hours tend to score much higher than those that do not. In fact, lack of adequate detail and or hours will result in a reduced scoring.
- How many hours did the most recent audit take? The Calendar Year 2012 audit took approximately 900 hours – 25 hours per portfolio, 36 portfolio. Please see response to question 2 above.
- 4. Is there a prior report? The Calendar Year 2012 audit report is at <u>auditor.delaware.gov</u>.
- 5. Were there any difficulties in completing the prior period audit? We are not aware of any significant difficulties in completing the Calendar Year 2012 audit.
- 6. Were there any audit adjustments in the prior year audit? If so, how many were there? There were no material adjustments in the prior year audit. AOA does not receive the audit difference schedule from the contracted firm as a regular practice, so we would not know the number or amount of adjustments passed on.
- 7. Did any event occur that would make the current year audit significantly different from the prior year? During 2013, the Plan launched the 2033 portfolios and rolled down the 2012 portfolios into the College portfolios, respectively. This event occurs every three years. AOA is not aware of any operational issues. The firm is expected to reflect any and all accounting and standards changes in its presentation to demonstrate adequate professional competencies.
- 8. Can a firm opt to provide proof of insurance upon request or contract award? Absolutely not, please refer to all elements considered mandatory requirements. They are mandatory and must be provided as part of the proposal or the proposal is disqualified.

RFP13-CPA-08 Appendix D Page 26 of 28

## Appendix D

- 9. In the RFP on page 9, 3b asks for authorization from NASBA. Since Delaware is a State that is part of the Portability Act, can we just say that we meet the requirements of the Act and provide a copy of our firm's State license and a copy of the State licenses for the Partner, Manager, and Supervisor in the proposal? Yes, that is acceptable. Copies of the firm and the partner, manager, and supervisor-incharge CPA licenses must be provided. Please keep in mind that a copy of a valid State of Delaware business license is also required.
- 10. In the RFP on page 11, what do you want to see in the proposal pertaining to Affirmative Action? We have a policy, so can we simply say that we have an Affirmative Action Policy? Yes, you may state that you have an Affirmative Action Policy. Per page 11 of the RFP: "The firm must identify the extent to which staff to be assigned to the engagement reflect the State of Delaware's commitment to Affirmation Action."
- 11. Can we include an insurance binder showing our limits to satisfy the proof of Insurance requirement? Can the insurance certificate have an expired date? Yes, however AOA will require the selected firm to provide evidence of actual insurance prior to the contract being signed. The insurance certificate or binder will not be accepted if the certificate is not current as of the date the proposals are submitted.
- 12. Can you share with us the information given to other bidders in response to their inquiries? Answers to all questions received are posted at bids.delaware.gov.
- 13. What assistance is given to the auditors during the audit? Per section IV.C. on page 5, "The firm agrees it will not prepare the financial statements or note disclosures. The firm should notify AOA immediately of any request to perform such services."
- 14. Is this RFP for a fixed price contract?

No, our contracts are not fixed in price. As described in Section IX B. of the RFP, the Contractor agrees to bill AOA only for actual work performed and out-of-pocket expenses incurred during its performance of the engagement. Therefore, if a firm's work is less than the estimated hours in its proposal, the firm should only bill for actual hours. Any additional work outside the contract or for additional fees related to the contract is not permitted without the AOA Liaison's prior knowledge and approval.

15. Is the proposing partner required to submit clarifying questions to AOA?

Due to the quality of recent questions received, questions may be submitted by any representative deemed appropriate by the firm in a management position or higher. The proposing partner should sufficiently participate in the proposal process to eliminate unnecessary questions and to ensure the firm's proposal meets **all** RFP requirements.

RFP13-CPA-08 Appendix D Page 27 of 28

## Appendix D

16. Does the quality of past engagement work and reports play a role in firm's technical proposal score?

Yes. AOA looks for high quality audit work, including quality writing in both findings and reports. When auditors perform quality audit work in accordance with GAGAS, it can lead to improved government management, better decision making and oversight, effective and efficient operations, and accountability and transparency for resources and results. (GAGAS 1.05) Audit reports are used to effectively communicate necessary information to both government officials and the public. Therefore, sufficient time should be budgeted and spent on writing user-friendly findings that allow these readers to understand the issues found and their impact. When evaluating a firm on previous work experience, the Evaluation Committee will consider whether previously submitted engagement reports were complete, accurate, objective, convincing, clear, and concise (GAGAS A7.02) and whether sufficient time has been allocated in the current proposal for performing these tasks.